IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC-02-1424

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 85-8933 CFANO

MARK ALLEN DAVIS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, Florida 33334

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Davis' motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The circuit court denied the claims after an evidentiary hearing.

The following abbreviations will be utilized to cite to the record in this cause, with appropriate volume and page number(s) following the abbreviation:

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 18, 1985, Mr. Davis was indicted and charged with premeditated first-degree murder, armed robbery and grand theft (R. 8-10). Mr. Davis pleaded not guilty (R. 68).

Mr. Davis' trial was held in January, 1987. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on each count (R. 217-9). The following week, after a brief penalty phase, the jury, by an 8 - 4 vote, recommended the death sentence and the trial court imposed death (R. 234, 265-73).

On June 1, 1990, during direct appeal, this Court remanded Mr. Davis' case for a hearing to determine whether Mr. Davis was absent from the courtroom during a critical stage of his trial, and if so, whether he waived his presence.

Circuit Judge John P. Griffin, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, presided over the hearing and found that Mr. Davis did not make a valid waiver but that Mr. Davis was present during jury selection. This Court affirmed Mr. Davis' convictions and sentences on direct appeal. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 1038 (1991).

The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari, vacated judgement, and remanded to this Court for reconsideration in light of <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992). <u>Davis v. Florida</u>, 112 S.Ct. 3021 (1992).

This Court affirmed Mr. Davis' convictions and sentences on remand from the United States Supreme Court. <u>Davis v.</u> <u>State</u>, 620 So. 2d 152 (1993). The United States Supreme Court

subsequently denied certiorari. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 114 S.Ct. 1205 (1994).

In July, 1995, Mr. Davis filed an incomplete Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 25-191).

On June 7, 1996, Mr. Davis moved to disqualify Judge Penick from presiding over his case in postconviction (PC-R. 201-10). Judge Penick denied the motion (PC-R. 220). On April 22, 1998, this Court denied Mr. Davis' Petition for Writ of Prohibition, for Extraordinary Relief and for a Writ of Mandamus. <u>Davis v. Penick</u>, 719 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1998).

Mr. Davis' filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion on May 3, 2000 (PC-R. 2044-2267). An incomplete <u>Huff</u> hearing was held on June 28, 2000 (PC-R. 2299-2362). On October 3, 2001, the court entered an order granting Mr. Davis an evidentiary hearing and summarily denying the rest of Mr. Davis' claims (PC-R. 2701-15). The evidentiary hearing was held November 5-9, 2001. On March 28, 2002, the court entered an order denying Mr. Davis' claims (PC-R. 2898-2928).

Mr. Davis filed a motion for rehearing which was denied on May 16, 2002 (PC-R. 3162-6). Mr. Davis timely filed a notice of appeal (PC-R. 3167-8).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. THE TRIAL

Mr. Davis was charged with premeditated first-degree murder, armed robbery and grand theft (R. 8-10). Mr. Davis pleaded not guilty to all three counts (R. 68).

On October 26, 1985, the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Davis (R. 12).

On February 27, 1986, Mr. Davis, <u>pro</u> <u>se</u>, filed a Motion to Act as Co-Counsel (109-10). Mr. Davis requested that he be able to file motions, make objections and gain additional time in the law library to conduct research. The court granted his motion (R. 123). Subsequently, Mr. Davis filed a few written motions (R. 130-1, 132-3, 140-1, 156). The court only responded to Mr. Davis' Motion for the Appointment of Investigator (R. 140-1), and informed Mr. Davis that his motion would be forwarded to the Public Defender's Office (R. 139).

On July 17, 1986, the defense's Motion for Costs to Hire Confidential Psychiatrist/Psychologist was heard (R. 572), at which time the following exchange occurred:

MR. McMILLEN: It may be for the guilt phase also. I would not want to officially, on the record, preclude the guilt phase.

THE COURT: Right. * * * MR. McMILLEN: And the facts of this case --THE COURT: Yeah, this is really weird.

MR. McMILLEN: There may be a psychological situation, not McNaughton, in guilt phase, but could arise, and as a result was recognized as a frenzy-type of action because of the number of stab wounds to this person.

THE COURT: I have no problem with moving for appointment of a confidential expert.

(R. 572). While the court granted the motion, no expert was

appointed at this time.

On October 22, 1986, Mr. McMillen moved to withdraw due to a conflict that arose because the Office of the Public Defender represented a witness who was expected to testify for the State (R. 579-80). The court granted the motion (R. 159), and appointed John Thor White as trial counsel.

Six days before trial, on January 7, 1987, Dr. David Diffendale, a psychologist, was appointed to evaluate Mr. Davis (R. 182). On July 12, 1987, he issued his report (Def. Ex. 1). In his report, Dr. Diffendale noted the following characteristics about Mr. Davis: "impulsivity, low frustration tolerance, lack of trust in others, and deep belief that he is his only protector". Dr. Diffendale went on to state:

The defendant's mental state at the time of the offense was influenced by many factors.

A. He admits to "drinking all day" and was reportedly seen drinking by witnesses. . . . The first factor then is he had some degree of alcohol intoxication.

B. . . The first is his explosive, impulsive anger. He has a history of over-responding with violent anger when sexually approached by males in jail. When asked, he reported continuing to beat others who had approached him long after they had ceased struggling. He reports "loosing (sic) it" when he feels threatened. This mode of behavior may explain the excessive stab wounds.

C. His slight stature, lack of traditional male success, and alcoholic father all would tend to make him insecure in his role as a man. . . . His psychological test results also suggest severe anxiety over his sexuality. The above would combine to make sexual interaction with another male a threat to his core identity. D. The final set of factors likely to effect his mental state at the time of the offense is his feelings of inadequacy, anger against authority, and anger against older men. From the defendant's early childhood, the defendant's father was an alcoholic who regularly abused his wife and children. Children of such families grow up with lower self-esteem and feelings of inadequacy. Amphetamine and alcohol, his drugs of choice, both serve to enhance the user's feelings of power and effectiveness. . .

His rage at authority and older men began with his alcoholic, abusive father and was nurtured by his spending nearly three quarters of his life past the age of 13, in penal institutions. Such institutions are controlled by males, older than he, who he saw as threatening him in abusive and arbitrary ways. As with his father, he was helpless to defend himself against them except possible by use of excessive force.

* * *

The above factors combined make it quite possible that the defendant did "loose it" (sic) once in a scuffle with the victim, especially if the victim picked up the larger knife as the defendant claims.

(Def. Ex. 1). Dr. Diffendale concluded: Mr. Davis' "response to the situation leading to the victim's death is understandable given the defendant's family history, jail experiences, psychological make-up and intoxication" (Def. Ex. 1).

Dr. Diffendale also stated: "He is smart enough to know that he would be blamed. He did nothing to cover himself or throw suspicion away from himself. If this act had been premeditated, he is bright enough and has had enough criminal exposure to do a better job" (Def. Ex. 1)(emphasis added).

On January 13, 1986, trial commenced. After the State presented it's opening statement (R. 905-8), defense counsel

reserved his opening statement (R. 908).

Over the course of 2 days, the State presented it's case to the jury: Raymond Hansbrough, the victim's son-in-law described the victim's background and his move to Florida (R. 1005-7). Mr. Hansbrough believed that Mr. Landis had approximately \$500 in cash on July 1st (R. 1007).¹ At 6:30 p.m., Mr. Landis came to his daughter's house to check-in and this was the last time he saw Mr. Landis (R. 1008).

On the evening of July 2, 1985, the police and fire department were called to the Gandy Efficiency Apartments in St. Petersburg (R. 910, 914). When they arrived they found Orville Landis' body in one of the apartments (R. 910, 914). Mr. Landis had been stabbed (R. 910).

Kim Rieck and Beverly Castle had recently moved to Florida and lived at the apartment complex (R. 917, 953-4). Rieck explained that she lived in an apartment with her boyfriend, Carl Kearney, and her mother, Castle, lived in another apartment (R. 917-8). Kearney managed the apartments (R. 919).

Rieck also explained that she knew Mr. Davis from Pekin, Illinois, because he was friends with Kearney (R. 919). Mr. Davis arrived in Florida 4 days before the crime (R. 920). Mr. Davis spent those days around the apartment complex and

¹Mr. Hansbrough was never cross examined by trial counsel. His statements to law enforcement are inconsistent with his testimony concerning the amount of money Mr. Landis obtained.

slept in his car, empty apartments and at the Kearney's (R. 921).

On Monday, July 1st, Mr. Landis rented an apartment from Rieck (R. 923). Rieck testified that Mr. Davis was at the apartments on July 1st and met Mr. Landis because she had sent him to get her a match (R. 925-6). Thereafter, Rieck observed Mr. Davis in Mr. Landis' apartment where they were talking and drinking beers (R. 927).

Rieck testified that at some point in the day, Mr. Davis told her: "he was going to take the old man for what he could" (R. 927), and that "he said get him drunk and see what he could get out of him" (R. 928). Mr. Davis also expressed his belief that the victim was "queer" (R. 929).

As to Mr. Davis' level of intoxication, the State inquired:

Q: Do you know how much either one of them had to drink during the day?

A: No.

Q: Did you have later contact with Mark Davis that day?

A: Yep.

Q: Can you tell us a little about that?

A: It was around four-thirty or five o'clock. We had Mark take us to get Carl's car . . .

Q: Now, did Mark Davis do the driving at any point in time?

A: Yes, he took us there.

Q: Did he have any difficulty in driving the car

when he took you there?

A: No, he didn't.

Q: During the course of the day when you had conversations with him, was his speech slurred or impaired in any fashion?

A: No, it wasn't.

Q: Was he staggering or unable to walk properly in your opinion on all other observations of the man?

A: No.

 $(R. 930-1).^2$

Rieck testified that at 11:30 p.m. or midnight, Mr. Davis came to her room and asked to borrow a pair of socks (R. 934). He also told them he would see them in a couple of years (R. 934). He did not appear intoxicated (R. 935).

Contrary to Rieck's testimony, Castle testified that she was present at the apartment complex the morning of July 1st (R. 925, 954, 957). She testified that she observed Mr. Davis assist Mr. Landis move into his apartment (R. 959). Castle also testified that Mr. Davis wanted Mr. Landis to get involved in his tattooing business (R. 960). Castle described Mr. Davis as "a nervous young man" (R. 974).

When asked if she had seen Mr. Davis drinking, Castle said: "I seen him with a can of beer in his hands." (R. 960).

Later in the evening, Castle saw Mr. Davis and the victim

²Rieck testified that Mr. Davis gave them a ride in his car. However, Mr. Davis' car had been previously impounded because it was reported stolen from Illinois.

arguing about money (R. 961). Castle testified:

Q: What do you mean they were arguing about money? Can you tell us what that conversation was?

A: Okay. I was sitting out in front of my apartment. Like I had said it was hot. There was no air conditioning. That's the reason I was even out there. And Mark was calling Skip a queer and said he was going to rip the old man off.

Q: He use any other words to describe how he was going to take Mr. Landis and what he was going to take if he was going to take something?

A: Just said he was going to rip him off and do him in.

(R. 961-2). Later, Castle added her interpretation of what Mr. Davis said: "Well, that's young kids talk. I have a teenager you know. To do away with someone at least the way children I know talk, was to kill them, get rid of them" (R. 972).

Castle was again asked about Mr. Davis' intoxication. She testified that at approximately 8:00 p.m., "Mark didn't seem like he was drunk . . . He wasn't stumbling around like [the victim] was anyway. He seemed coherent. He knew what he was doing" (R. 965). She also testified that Mr. Davis stopped drinking in the evening (R. 991). On cross examination, defense counsel attempted to impeach Castle with her statement that was taken on July 2nd, wherein Castle told the police that Mark got drunker and drunker throughout the day (R. 977), and that Mr. Davis and Mr. Landis drank beer and vodka (R. 979). During the statement, Detective Rhodes specifically asked Castle if they were both drunk and Castle

stated: "Oh, bad, very bad.". Additionally, Castle had told the police that at 10:30 p.m., "they were both real drunk." (R. 978).

Castle testified that she saw Mr. Davis between 11:00 p.m. and midnight and that he told her and David Vickers that he had to leave right away and he would see them in a few years (R. 967). Later, she saw Mr. Davis drive away in Mr. Landis' car.

Detectives Rhodes and Halliday testified that they interrogated Mr. Davis when he was arrested in Illinois (R. 1262). Initially, Mr. Davis denied having any knowledge about the victim's death (R. 1272). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Davis told them that he wanted to tell the truth (R. 1274). Det. Rhodes told the jury:

At that point, Mark said, I guess I will tell you the truth. He started back and he told everything was true about meeting the victim earlier that day with the beer, that he had helped him unload his car, they had drank some, that he had borrowed \$20 from the victim during the day and he pawned his tattoo equipment. He had a blue and white cooler with Tattoo equipment inside it and he had borrowed \$20 from the equipment, gave him that as security.

He then said that he and the victim drank and went to several bars, the Dave's Aqua Lounge and Golden Arrow Pub and he said about 11, somewhere around 11 o'clock, the victim went to bed.

He went down - he went back over to the Golden Arrow Pub. You (sic) came back for a pair of socks from Carl Kearney, went back and knocked on the victim's door and said the victim was dressed in nothing but a pair of pants, no shirt, no shoes. He told the victim he needed to borrow - at this point Davis didn't remember whether it was \$2 or \$5 that he needed to borrow from him. The victim told him he would have to do something for it. He reached down and grabbed - Davis said, grabbed my nuts and I struck him at this time with my right hand somewhere around the neck or throat area, knocking him down on the floor.

Victim laid there grasping for breath and choking. In a little bit, he got back up and he struck him the second time. He didn't know where he struck him, whether right hand or his left hand. He hit him again. They began to fight. He walked back to the small room towards the kitchen area. Victim picked up a long butcher knife. He took the butcher knife away from the victim and began hitting him with it.

Q: . . At that point in time is he saying they were over by the bed?

A: On the bed.

A: He said he hit him several times with the knife, with the big butcher knife. He got a smaller knife which is over in that area and that he cut his throat with the smaller knife and stabbed him several times with it. Then he said, he got up, washed the blood off the

* * *

knives in the bathroom sink and washed his hands.

Said went through the victim's wallet. He got 80 or \$85 out of the wallet and at this time, he was afraid so he took the victim's car and he went to Tampa.

(R. 1274-7). One significant difference between Det. Rhodes and Det. Halliday's testimony was that Det. Halliday testified that before Mr. Davis provided his statement, the detective suggested that the crime was committed because the victim made a sexual advance (R. 1289).

Shannon Stevens met Mr. Davis at the Pinellas County Jail. Stevens testified that Mr. Davis made a statement to him:

Mark told me that he had killed the man, that the man was queer and he was hustling him.

He told me that he met the man moving into a motel, like efficiency building, where he was staying and there was other people from his hometown staying there. He told me that the man had a six pack of beer, bought a six

pack of beer. He helped the man move his stuff in the room. He said he later pawned his tattoo machine to the man for \$20. Him and the man had went to the bar and had some drinks and later they come back from the bar and were at the room, were drinking some more, and he said he was hustling the man and the man woke up and caught him and a fight broke out and he killed him.

(R. 1205). Stevens also testified that Mr. Davis was "going to try for second degree murder" (R. 1206). The State inquired as to whether inmates talked about what worked in cases and Stevens agreed that that happened (R. 1206). Stevens also testified that he had seen Mr. Davis in the law library (R. 1208). The State, through Stevens, elicited testimony that suggested Mr. Davis manufactured his defense (R. 1208-10).

Stevens testified that when he asked Mr. Davis about all of the stab wounds, Mr. Davis told him that the "guy wouldn't go down" (R. 1212).

As to whether Stevens was receiving any benefit for his testimony, Stevens testified:

Q: Because of some information that you may have, have you been promised any leniency or any plea bargain, any special treatment, because of your coming in here and testifying?

A: No, ma'am.

Q: Have you asked for any leniency for any of your sentences as a result of your testimony in this case?

A: No, ma'am. Neither asked nor received. (R. 1194).

As to physical evidence, testimony was presented that a large butcher knife was found in the trash can and the broken

handle of a knife handle was found in the bathroom sink, both of which had blood on them (R. 1013, 1035). The victim was found clutching a Bic lighter and hair in his hands (R. 1028). Also, while not presented to the jury evidence existed that Mr. Davis' blood was found at the scene (R. 538).

Mr. Davis' fingerprints were found on an empty beer can in the trash, on his tattoo materials and a bottle (R. 1182).

Blood was spattered throughout the apartment, but was mainly concentrated near the bed, underneath the window (R. 1023-4). The State also elicited testimony that the victim was found with semen in his anus (R. 1044). As to matching the semen sample to a source, FBI Agent Errera testified that he could neither include nor exclude Mr. Davis as the source (R. 1045).

Joan Wood, the medical examiner, testified that the time of death was between 10:30 p.m. on the night of the 1st and 4:30 a.m. the next morning (R. 1094). She identified fifteen stab wounds to Mr. Landis' chest, abdomen, neck and back (R. 1096-7, 1116). She also identified other wounds to Mr. Landis' face and body, including defensive wounds and a wound on his hand which could be consistent with having struggled for the knife (R. 1109). Dr. Wood opined that the injuries were inflicted while Mr. Landis was alive (R. 1115). Dr. Wood testified that the stabbing and cutting wounds to the neck, chest and abdomen caused Mr. Landis' death (R. 1124).

At the beginning of the second day of testimony, the

State requested that the defense reveal whether or not Dr. Diffendale was going to be called as a witness so that the State could depose him (R. 1154-6). Defense counsel informed the court that he had not decided whether to use Dr. Diffendale in the penalty phase (R. 1157). He stated that Dr. Diffendale needed to meet further with Mr. Davis and counsel (R. 1159, 1162).

After the State rested it's case, trial counsel indicated that he would be resting without putting on any evidence (R. 1312). Trial counsel then told the court: "I am now verbally advising the State that Dr. Diffendale is a witness for the Defense for the sentencing phase in the event that a sentencing phase takes place" (R. 1313).

In it's closing argument the State capitalized on Stevens' testimony and argued that Mr. Davis manufactured his defense:

I didn't tell them what I told you. I am claiming selfdefense. I have my theories. The facts you heard is from a jail house lawyer. Well, there sits one. He is busy on his defenses in this case, doing his legal research, listening to scuttle-butt at the jail to see what defenses work, what defenses didn't work, to decide what's going to be the best defense for him in this case. And what did he think the best defense was? The old man is a queer and made a sexual advance.

(R. 1420-1).

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