### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK ALLEN DAVIS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-1424 Lower Tribunal No. CRC 85-8933 CFANO

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

/

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General Chief of Capital Appeals Florida Bar No. 0445071 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

## COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

MR. MARTIN: That is correct, and what would have been taken out is for example Kim Rieck, on page one of defense exhibit number six appears to be a non-verbatim statement of summary and I can look at mine because we have like lines. We know what was taken out. He probably didn't get that. He got the taped statement because that was verbatim.

(PCR 46/794)

No evidence was presented at the hearing by the defense that counsel, in fact, did not receive "un-Millerized" reports. Nor was an argument made to the court that as a result of the "Millerizing" the defense was denied impeachment material. Accordingly, there is not only a failure of proof, but this claim is procedurally barred as it was not properly presented to the court below.

In any event, Davis now argues that, according to ASA Martin's statement, the summary of trial witness Kimberley Rieck's statement to police was deleted from Detective O'Brien's police July 3, 1985 police report. Again, only the statements made by ASA Martin during the introduction of defense exhibits are now being urged as evidence of a violation. Davis has not produced any testimony or evidence that this information was actually withheld from defense counsel. More, importantly, the only thing he asserts is missing is the fact that Det. O'Brien does not report that Rieck told him that Davis had given her a ride the previous evening or that he made any statement to her during the day about getting the victim drunk to see what he could get out of him. (Brief of Appellant at pg. 68) Det. O'Brien summarized his encounter with the sixteen year old Ms. Rieck when he responded to a call at the scene on the day the victim's body was discovered in the police report as follows:

KIM RIECK, W/F, 16yoa, Apt. #5, 10608 Gandy Blvd. This female is a co-manager of the apartment complex. She states that Mark Davis is from Pekin, Illinois, her home town. He came to Florida last Thursday in a car he took wihtout [sic] permission from that state. He stayed in the car the first night and then slept in different apartments. The vehicle was recovered by this department and towed into the compound lot. He (Davis) was not apprehended for that crime. On the date the victim moved into the place of occurrence, he (Davis) went over to ask him for a cigarette. He and the victim had a few drinks and then went to two local bars where they drank on and off until 0030hrs. on July 2, 1985.

(PCR 19/3193, Def. Ex. 6 - Police Report of Det. O'Brien)

Because Davis did not raise this claim below and never sought to establish a <u>Brady</u> violation on this basis, we do not know which portions, if any, were actually deleted from the report. The trial record shows, that counsel moved pretrial to compel <u>Miller</u> portions of the police reports, which was granted. (TR 2/97-98, 101) Thus, counsel was clearly aware of the practice. (PCR 45/4411-12, 4474-75)

Notwithstanding, it is obvious that even if counsel did not receive this brief summary by one of the initial officers on the scene, it does not constitute <u>Brady</u> material because he received the same information from Det. O'Brien during his deposition. During the deposition Det. O'Brien essentially read his complete report to then trial defense counsel Jean Goebel. (TR 3/384-86) Additionally, defense counsel had the transcript of Rieck's oral interview. In fact, the trial record shows that counsel used Rieck's statements to impeach her.<sup>11</sup> (TR 7/942-43)

This Court in <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 872 So. 2d 230 (Fla. 2003), has recently reiterated the three components of a true <u>Brady</u> violation as follows:

 $<sup>^{11}</sup>$  The transcript of that interview was introduced as Def. Ex. 4. (PCR 19/3191)
[1] The evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching;[2] that evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and[3] prejudice must have ensued.

<u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 872 So. 2d 230 (Fla. 2003), <u>quoting Strickler v. Greene</u>, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999) HN2

This Court noted that under the prejudice prong, the defendant must show that the suppressed evidence is material and that evidence is only material if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is defined as a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Further, this Court noted that, "in determining materiality, the 'cumulative effect of the suppressed evidence must be considered.'" Tompkins, <u>quoting Cardona v. State</u>, 826 So. 2d 968, 973 (Fla. 2002)(evaluating a Brady claim under the three prong test set forth in Strickler).

As counsel had the information from other sources and used that information to impeach the witness, there is no <u>Brady</u> violation. <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1042 (Fla. 2002) ("a <u>Brady</u> claim cannot stand if a defendant knew of the evidence allegedly withheld or had possession of it, simply because the evidence cannot then be found to have been withheld

from the defendant.")

Similarly, he urges for the first time that the State did not provide the statements of Jean Born and Glenda South, which were also contained in the report. Again, as Det. O'Brien provided the information in his deposition that was contained in the police report, there is no <u>Brady</u> violation. Moreover, Davis does not even allege materiality or prejudice.

Davis next makes the unsupported allegation that much of Det. Rhodes' report was withheld and again fails to assert how he was prejudiced if the report was withheld. He simply urges that the report contained valuable evidence that Davis was "unstable" and "nuts." Det. Rhodes' report contains a summary of his interview with Glenda South who stated that when she met Davis - a week prior to the murder - he was "in her opinion, an unstable type person. One that was 'Nuts.'" (PCR 19/3192) The record contains a transcript of Det. Rhodes oral interview with Glenda South where she recounts her dealings with Davis and Landis. (PCR 19/3189) Further, Davis does not explain how the absence of this information undermines confidence in the outcome of the proceeding.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Under the prejudice prong, the defendant must show that the suppressed evidence is material. Evidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A "reasonable probability" is a

Moreover, although this claim was not presented as a <u>Brady</u> claim to the lower court, it was raised as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Upon denying relief the lower court found:

Next, the defendant claims that his counsel was ineffective because he failed to depose "kev" witnesses. These individuals were Jean Born, Jeff Hubbard, Douglas Matheny and George Lee. These individuals were at a bar and had seen both the victim and the defendant at the bar earlier the day of the crime. Trial counsel, however, testified that he had depositions and police reports showing what information these individuals had. EH 693. The defendant failed to identify any information relating to the crime that these individuals had that was unknown to his trial counsel. The defendant has failed to establish that his trial counsel was ineffective for not deposing these individuals. This Court has reviewed the police reports (Exhibit 1) and agrees with trial counsel that there is nothing in them that was unknown to him.

(PCR 17/2902)

The defendant repeats his claim that his counsel should have put on other witnesses who had evidence of the defendant's alleged intoxication. This time he adds the name of Glenda South and Carl Kearney. Trial counsel testified that he did not want to use these witnesses because it would have forced him to lose his opportunity to have first and last closing arguments, witnesses had evidence unfavorable the to the defendant, and their statements were no stronger than what the State's witnesses had already testified to. EH 633-4. This Court finds this strategy reasonable. This Court has reviewed the police reports (Exhibit 2) and agrees with counsel that they contain no

probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. <u>Reed v. State</u>, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S156 (Fla. April 15, 2004) information not known to him.

(PCR 17/2904-05)

Both Det. Rhodes' and Det. O'Brien's complete police reports are attached to the order. (PCR 17/3006-09) While this finding deals with ineffective assistance, it disproves any claim of materiality because counsel testified that he would not have used it. Further, as the gist of this testimony was before the jury, confidence in the outcome is not undermined.

Davis next asserts that he was not provided with the statements contained in a "synopsis" at Def. Ex. 12. Exhibit twelve is actually miscellaneous handwritten memos. (PCR 33/3204) Defendant's Exhibit No. 13 contains a "synopsis" that was prepared for ASA McKeown by IPO Lynne Van Hoozen on August 15, summarizing the evidence they had available against Mark Davis and recommending that they proceed to the grand jury. The alleged failure to produce either exhibit was not brought forth at the hearing below. While counsel now contends that the State conceded that it would not have been provided, there is no reference to any record cite to support this contention. This claim is not properly before this Court. Notwithstanding the repeated effort to assert arguments that were not specifically made to the court below, the record does not support the contention that trial counsel was denied access to any material

information. This claim should be denied.

Next Davis takes exception to the trial court's findings that the transcript shows trial counsel presented evidence and argument that Davis was intoxicated. The lower court supported the finding with references to the record below, citing to R. 930-4, 942-4, 948, 960-1, 963-5, 976-81, 990-4, 1202-6, 1257-82, 1365-8, 1378-82, 1431-3. (PCR 17/2907) Ignoring this evidence, Davis again argues that counsel was limited to impeaching with their verbatim statements because it was the only thing he had. Clearly, this contention is refuted by the record and should be As previously noted, even if he was not given denied. nonverbatim statements, he was provided with the other reports, transcripts and depositions where the substance of the reports was repeated. Moreover, once again, Davis fails to allege any material evidence that undermines confidence in the outcome. This claim should be denied.

Davis next asserts that the State suppressed the deal it made with Shannon Stevens. This claim was presented below. At the evidentiary hearing Shannon Stevens denied making a deal as he had in his prior trial testimony and depositions. (TR 3/453, 8/ 1194, 1217, 1223-1224, 1246) He testified that he had been sentenced the prior Monday to a year and a day in prison on guidelines of community control, and to thirty months

imprisonment for escaping from work-release (TR 8/1193). The Pasco County charges of burglary and grand theft, to which he had pled guilty in August for the bottom of the guidelines and concurrent time, was set for sentencing the following Monday, having been postponed for the State to substantiate and obtain microfilm copies of his past record for guidelines scoring (TR 8/1193-1194).

On cross-examination, defense counsel brought out that Stevens had received the lowest possible prison sentence recommended by the guidelines, that the State had not objected to that sentence, and that his sentence was subject to reduction within 60 days (TR 8/1242-1243). Defense counsel also brought out that the judge could go below the guidelines in sentencing on the upcoming Monday, if he gave valid reasons in writing, but Stevens had bargained for the bottom of the guidelines. (TR 8/1243)

On redirect examination, Stevens explained that his defense counsel had not been aware of Stevens' association with Davis at the time of the guilty plea, and that Stevens had specifically waited until after the new law went into effect, which greatly reduced his guidelines range, before accepting the plea bargain for the bottom of the guidelines. (TR 8/ 1244-1245)

The record conclusively shows that Shannon Stevens was not

aware, at the time of his trial testimony on January 16, that the State would later decide to write a letter on January 29, asking the Department of Corrections to not forfeit Stevens' gain time, based on the escape conviction, because of his cooperation in Davis' murder case and that of another defendant. The record supports that defense counsel made the jury aware of the possibility of Stevens receiving a reduced sentence in exchange for his cooperation and does not support that the State withheld any promise of favorable treatment.

Based on the foregoing, the lower court denied this portion of the claim stating:

The defendant claims that the State withheld evidence that deals or benefits had been discussed with witnesses. The defendant, however, failed to sufficient of present evidence any deals or discussions of deals with witnesses. Although the State did send a letter to the sentencing judge in Shannon Stevens' case, Shannon Stevens testified during the evidentiary hearing that there were no deals made or discussed with the State. EH 776-7. He may have had the hope that the State would assist him in his effort to secure his gain time, but no deal was made and no promises were made. As noted by trial counsel during his testimony at the evidentiary hearing in response to a question about jail-house informants being impeached on their testimony: "[I]n almost every case there is a realistic hope of reward." EH 572. He went on to say: "common sense is that somebody isn't in there out of a feeling of patriotism; testifying that more than likely they have an expectation of a hope that they will benefit one way or the other, after the fact." He noted that juries sense that. EH 572.

(PCR 17/2907)

This is a factual finding by the lower court that cannot be overturned unless this Court finds that it is not supported by competent substantial evidence. As Stevens and trial counsel both testified that no deal existed, Stevens' testimony essentially affirms his prior testimony and no credible evidence exists to the contrary, this finding is well supported by the evidence and should be affirmed. Moreover, as counsel argued to the jury that Stevens was getting some kind of reward for his testimony, confidence in the outcome of the proceeding is not undermined.

Next appellant repeats his postconviction allegation that the State presented false evidence concerning Davis' prior conviction. He now adds to the claim that a handwritten note from the prosecutor's file which makes reference to a juvenile parole violation was withheld and that it constitutes evidence the State knowingly presented false evidence. The matter was fully addressed during Davis' trial and ruled on by the trial court before being presented to the jury. (TR 11/1493-1498).

During the trial defense counsel objected again just before the State's introduction of the juvenile conviction and testimony of Officer Salmon, who was to testify about the juvenile conviction, and the court overruled the objection. (TR 11/1509-1510). Thereafter, in the sentencing phase before the

judge, the State put on testimony of Scott Hopkins, an investigator for the State Attorney. Hopkins had been deposed by defense counsel the day before. During sentencing, Hopkins questioned concerning his receipt of documents was and information regarding Davis' prosecution and sentence as an adult for the attempted armed robbery in Illinois. (TR 11/1601-1606, 1608-1609) Defense counsel objected on the grounds that some of the documents could be interpreted as referring to a juvenile disposition. (TR 11/1493, 1496, 1498, 1509-1510, 1606-1608) Over the State's objection that it was not an official statement, defense counsel admitted, in the sentencing phase, its own exhibits about the prior adjudication. (TR 11/1616-1635) These were matters fully developed on the appellate record and available for direct appeal. Therefore, the claim is procedurally barred in this postconviction proceeding. Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 569, n.1 (Fla. 1996)(Brady and Giglio claims were procedurally barred as available for appeal).

The lower court denied the claim stating:

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